TECHNICAL REPORT





•••••••••••

••••

•

•••••

AIDS MEDICINES AND DIAGNOSTICS SERVICE

HIV DIAGNOSTIC TESTS IN LOW- AND MIDDLE-INCOME COUNTRIES: FORECASTS OF GLOBAL DEMAND FOR 2014–2018

JULY 2015

•

•

••••••••

•

••••••••

••••••••

••••

••••

•

•

•••••

•

••••

HIV DIAGNOSTIC TESTS IN LOW- AND MIDDLE-INCOME COUNTRIES: FORECASTS OF GLOBAL DEMAND FOR 2014–2018

JULY 2015

WHO Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data:

HIV diagnostic tests in low- and middle-income countries: forecasts of global demand for 2014-2018.

1.HIV Infections – diagnosis. 2.HIV Seropositivity. 3.AIDS Serodiagnosis. 4.Drug Industry – trends. 5.Developing Countries. I.World Health Organization.

ISBN 978 92 4 150916 9

(NLM classification: WC 503.1)

© World Health Organization 2015

All rights reserved. Publications of the World Health Organization are available on the WHO website (www. who.int) or can be purchased from WHO Press, World Health Organization, 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland (tel.: +41 22 791 3264; fax: +41 22 791 4857; e-mail: bookorders@who.int).

Requests for permission to reproduce or translate WHO publications –whether for sale or for non-commercial distribution– should be addressed to WHO Press through the WHO website (www.who.int/about/licensing/ copyright_form/en/index.html).

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by the World Health Organization to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall the World Health Organization be liable for damages arising from its use.

CONTENTS

OF FIGURES	6
OF TABLES	7
NOWLEDGEMENTS	8
REVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS	9
CUTIVE SUMMARY	10
INTRODUCTION	11
METHODS	12
2.1 CURRENT DEMAND	12
2.2 LINEAR EXTRAPOLATION OF PAST TRENDS	12
2.3 90-90-90 TARGETS	13
2.4 COUNTRY TARGETS	13
2.5 CHAI PROJECTIONS	13
2.6 PFSCM PROJECTIONS	13
2.7 PROCUREMENT DATA	13
2.8 GUIDELINES	13
RESULTS	14
3.1 CD4 TESTS	14
3.2 VIRAL LOAD TESTS	16
3.3 EID TESTS	18
3.4 HIV TESTING	20
IMARY	22
RENCES	23
	OF TABLES NOWLEDGEMENTS REVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS CUTIVE SUMMARY INTRODUCTION METHODS 2.1 CURRENT DEMAND 2.2 LINEAR EXTRAPOLATION OF PAST TRENDS 2.3 90-90-90 TARGETS 2.4 COUNTRY TARGETS 2.5 CHAI PROJECTIONS 2.6 PFSCM PROJECTIONS 2.7 PROCUREMENT DATA 2.8 GUIDELINES RESULTS 3.1 CD4 TESTS 3.2 VIRAL LOAD TESTS 3.3 EID TESTS 3.4 HIV TESTING

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Trends in demand for CD4 tests, 2011–2018	15
Figure 2.	Indexes of demand for CD4 counts	15
Figure 3.	Trends in demand for viral load tests, 2011–2018	16
Figure 4.	Indexes of demand for viral load tests	17
Figure 5.	Trends in demand for EID tests, 2011–2018	18
Figure 6.	Indexes of demand for EID tests	19
Figure 7.	Trends in demand for HIV rapid diagnostic tests, 2011–2018	20
Figure 8.	Indexes of demand for HIV rapid diagnostic tests	21

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Trends in demand for CD4 tests, 2011–2018	14
Table 2.	Indexes of demand for CD4 tests	14
Table 3.	Trend in demand for CD4 tests by region	15
Table 4.	Trends in demand for viral load tests, 2011–2018	16
Table 5.	Indexes of demand for viral load tests	17
Table 6.	Trends in demand for viral load tests by region	17
Table 7.	Trends in demand for EID, 2011–2018	18
Table 8.	Indexes of demand for EID tests	19
Table 9.	Trends in demand for EID by region	19
Table 10.	Trends in demand for HIV rapid diagnostic tests, 2011–2018	20
Table 11.	Indexes of demand for HIV rapid diagnostic tests	21

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

WHO expresses its gratitude to Avenir Health, in particular to John Stover, Adebiyi Adesina and Eline Korenromp, for their technical contribution in producing this report on forecasts for global and regional demand for HIV diagnostics.

WHO is grateful for the valuable inputs from the Technical Working Group members and people who met in Washington, DC on 24-25 February 2015 to harmonize the assumptions and forecasts for global demand for diagnostic tests: Adebiyi Adesina (Avenir health previously Futures Institute), Sandra Neal (CDC), Meghan Wareham and Paolo Maggiore (CHAI), Paula Fernandes, Ekaterina Milgotina (GSSHealth), David Jamieson, Jason Williams, Peter Smith, Robert Burn, Rich Owens, Claire Albert, Aloysius Bingi and Seun Ayanniyi (SCMS), Ignacio Gimenez and Lama Ramzi Suleiman (UNICEF), Joel Kuritsky and Dianna Edgil (USAID), Mercedes Perez Gonzalez (WHO/EMP/PQT), Jos Perriëns (WHO/HIV/TCO), Vincent Habiyambere (HIV/TCO/AMDS), Massimo Ghidinelli (PAHO), Adrian Barojas (PAHO), Jordi Balleste Orpinell (PAHO) and Ravasi Giovanni (PAHO).

WHO is grateful to MSF represented by Teri Roberts and to EXPERTISE France (Agence Française d'Expertise Technique Internationale) represented by Aurélie Bonfils for their contribution with data presented in the Technical Working Group meeting.

WHO extends its gratitude to the UNAIDS secretariat for technical contributions by its staff to finalize the forecasts and for the data on the Fast-Track projections.

The Diagnostics Forecasting Technical Working Group includes members from the following organizations: Avenir Health, the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), the Clinton Health Access Initiative (CHAI), the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, TB and Malaria (GFATM), Partnership for Supply Chain Management (PfSCM), the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), the United Nation's Children's Fund (UNICEF), UNITAID, the United States Agency for International Development (USAID), and the World Health Organization (WHO).

WHO expresses its special thanks to the technical review and editing committee: Eline Korenromp (Avenir Health), Meghan Wareham (CHAI), Vincent Habiyambere (WHO), Jos Perriëns (WHO), Paolo Maggiore (CHAI), Jason Williams (PFSCM), John Stover (Avenir Health) and Yu Teng (Avenir Health) and UNAIDS secretariat staff.

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

AIDS	acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
ART	antiretroviral therapy
CHAI	Clinton Health Access Initiative
EID	early infant diagnosis
GARPR	Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting system
GPRM	Global Price Reporting Mechanism
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
PEPFAR	United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief
PFSCM	Partnership for Supply Chain Management
PMTCT	prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV
UNAIDS	Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS
WHO	World Health Organization

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report provides projections of the future demand for human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) diagnostic tests. These projections are intended to inform advocacy for the scale up of access to diagnostics, so that the UNAIDS 90-90-90 targets for HIV treatment access can be met. They will likely also be useful for producers, enabling them to plan for adequate supply and to procurement organizations in planning future funding and long-term purchase plans.

The projections rely on data from a number of different sources including an annual country survey conducted by the World Health Organization (WHO), purchases reported to the Global Price Reporting Mechanism, data on past use provided by the Clinton Health Access Initiative (CHAI) for 21 high-burden countries, and purchase data from United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) programmes supported by the Partnership for Supply Chain Management (PFSCM).

The projections consider a number of possible future paths. Four global projections were prepared for this report:

- Linear extrapolation of past trends in the use and/or procurement of diagnostics.
- Achievement of the 90-90-90 treatment targets proposed by UNAIDS.
- Linear extrapolation of national targets submitted by country programmes in response to the WHO survey.
- Expected demand if all countries followed the current WHO guidelines for HIV testing and monitoring of antiretroviral therapy (ART).

Also included are projections prepared by CHAI for 21 highburden countries adjusted to represent global demand and projections of future purchases for PEPFAR by PFSCM. The main results are as follows:

- CD4 tests: Total demand for CD4 tests is expected to grow from about 17 million in 2013 to 23–37 million by 2018. The highest estimate of future demand is from the extrapolation of country targets. Average annual increases in demand up to 2018 are expected to be between 10 and 17%. Future demand may be towards the lower end of the range (23–27 million) as programmes move from CD4 tests to viral load tests as the primary means of monitoring ART patients. The global demand for CD4 tests is expected to grow only by about 25% compared to a 2014 baseline.
- Viral load tests: Total demand for viral load tests is expected to grow from 7 million in 2013 to 15–30 million by 2018. Again the highest projection is based on the linear extrapolation of the country targets. The average annual increase in demand up to 2018 is expected to be 11–34%. The major factor affecting future demand is the rate at which national programmes adopt viral load as the primary tool for monitoring ART patients in their effort to achieve the 90-90-90 targets. If programmes transition as expected, the demand is likely to be higher than the linear extrapolation and closer to the guidelines scenario (23 million by 2018).
- Early infant diagnosis (EID): Demand for EID is expected to rise from about 950,000 in 2013 to 0.9–3.0 million by 2018. The linear extrapolation of the country targets provides the highest estimate. While the coverage of EID has been expanding rapidly the number of HIVinfected pregnant women may be declining as a result of progress in reducing new infections among reproductive age women. This decline suggests that demand for EID may be relatively constant over the next several years at about 1 million tests.
- **HIV rapid diagnostic tests**: Limited data are available on the demand for HIV rapid diagnostic tests. Based on trends from the Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting system reports total demand for rapid diagnostic tests may rise to 160 million by 2018.

1. INTRODUCTION

The objective of this report is to provide projections of future demand for human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) diagnostics. These forecasts are intended to inform advocacy for the scale up of access to diagnostics, so that the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) 90-90-90 targets for HIV treatment access can be met. They will likely also be useful for producers, so that they can plan for adequate supply and to procurement organizations in planning future funding and long-term purchase plans.

The key sources of data on diagnostics for this report are:

- The annual World Health Organization (WHO) survey of low- and middle-income countries on HIV treatment and diagnostic tests. The number of countries reporting ranged from 52 in 2011 to 76 in 2013;
- The WHO's Global Price Reporting Mechanism (GPRM);
- Data on past use and projected testing volumes developed by the Clinton Health Access Initiative (CHAI) for 21 countries;
- Purchases and forecasts for a small number of countries supported by the Partnership for Supply Chain Management (PFSCM) funded by the United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR); and
- The Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting (GARPR) for HIV testing.

To inform these projections we also used forecasts of the number of people receiving antiretroviral therapy (ART) through 2018 (the average projection agreed by all partners in the working group as the reference forecast) prepared by WHO, UNAIDS and Avenir Health (1), projections of the future need for the prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV (PMTCT) compiled by UNAIDS and global goals for ART under the 90-90-90 Initiative (2).

2. METHODS

Several alternative projections of the future demand for HIV-related diagnostics have been prepared. Each method is described below.

2.1 Current demand

The WHO antiretroviral (ARV) survey received responses from 76 countries in 2014, 62 in 2013 and 63 in 2012. The estimates presented here for total demand in 2013 use the figures reported by these countries plus an estimate for the missing countries. Demand in countries not reporting in 2013 was estimated according to the following rules:

- 1. If data were reported for 2011 and 2012, we estimated demand in 2013 as a linear extrapolation to 2013.
- If data were reported for either 2011 or 2012 but not both, we estimated demand in 2013 by multiplying need in 2013 by the ratio of demand in 2011 or 2013 to an estimate of need in that year. Need for CD4 tests and viral load tests were based on the number of people on ART. The need for early infant diagnosis (EID) was based on the number of HIV+ pregnant women.
- 3. If no data were reported for 2011, 2012 or 2013, we estimated demand in 2013 by multiplying need in 2013 by the average ratio of demand to need for all reporting countries in 2013. Need was defined as described in item 2 above. The ratios were 1.42 CD4 tests per person receiving ART, 0.71 viral load tests per person receiving ART and 0.80 EID tests per HIV+ woman receiving PMTCT.

2.2 Linear extrapolation of past trends

The WHO ARV survey provided data on the number of CD4, viral load and EID tests conducted in 2011, 2012 and 2013. Not all countries provided data for all three years.

- For those countries providing data for two or three years, the projection is a linear extrapolation of the past trend.
- For countries providing data for only a single year, the projection applies a ratio of tests to patients. For CD4 and viral load tests we calculated the ratio of the number of tests reported to the number of ART patients in the same year and applied that ratio to the estimated future number of ART patients. For EID tests we calculated the ratio of EID tests to the number of HIV+ women receiving PMTCT services and applied that ratio to estimated future numbers of women receiving PMTCT services.
- For countries with no data, we estimated future demand by multiplying the estimated number of ART patients for CD4 and viral load tests or PMTCT patients for EID tests

by ratios of tests per patient. The ratios were calculated as the sum of all tests reported each year by reporting countries divided by the number of ART patients or PMTCT patients in the same countries in that year. Those ratios were:

- CD4 tests: The ratio of 1.42 tests year per ART patient in 2013 was calculated as the sum of all tests reported each year by reporting countries divided by the number of ART patients. This is the ratio of the number of CD4 tests reported by reporting countries in the survey (10.9 million in 2013) divided by the reported number of people on ART in those same countries (7.5 million in 2013).
- Viral load tests: Since the use of viral load tests has expanded the ratio varies by year and is the sum of the projected number of tests in a year for countries who reported at least two years of historic data divided by the sum of projected ART patients in that year for those countries. The resulting ratios are:
 - 2014: 0.71
 - 2015: 0.75
 - 2016: 0.78
 - 2017: 0.80
 - 2018: 0.82
- EID tests: since the use of EID tests is expanding rapidly we calculated the ratio of EID tests to women receiving PMTCT for countries reporting data for 2013 through 2018. The reporting countries reported 781,000 tests in 2013. Based on estimates of the need for PMTCT in reporting and non-reporting countries we adjusted this figure upward by 22% to estimate total demand in 2013 which made 950,000 EID tests. The ratios are:
 - 2013: 0.80
 - 2014: 1.00
 - 2015: 1.06
 - 2016: 1.17
 - 2017: 1.29
 - 2018: 1.43

For EID tests we constrained the linear projection to be less than or equal to the estimated number of HIV+ women giving birth each year.

No country data were available for rapid diagnostic tests. We prepared two forecasts by extrapolating data on (1) the number of tests purchased from the GPRM and (2) country reports of the number of tests conducted annually from GARPR.

2.3 90-90-90 targets

In 2014 UNAIDS proposed a new set of global targets for scaling up treatment known as the 90-90-90 targets (2). They envision that by 2020:

- 90% of all people living with HIV will know their status,
- 90% of all people diagnosed with HIV will receive sustained ART, and
- 90% of all people receiving ART will have durable viral suppression.

If all low- and middle-income countries were on track to reach these targets there would be just over 23 million people on ART by 2018. This is 14% higher than a simple linear extrapolation of past trends. Therefore, we have projected the need for CD4 tests as 14% higher than the linear extrapolation scenario by 2018. The number of viral load tests is currently less than that recommended by the WHO ARV guidelines (two viral load tests in the first year of ART and then one annually in subsequent years). We have assumed that these guidelines would be achieved by 2018 and interpolated between 2013 and 2018 for the intervening years.

The global targets call for 95% coverage of PMTCT services. We have projected the demand for EID under this scenario to be 95% of all HIV+ pregnant women (as estimated by UNAIDS) plus 10% to allow for re-testing.

2.4 Country targets

In the 2014 WHO ARV survey 20 countries provided their targets for the number of CD4 tests up to 2017 as was indicated in the WHO HIV diagnostic survey. The weighted average of those targets for 2017 is 29% higher than the reported number of tests in 2013. We scaled this up to all countries for 2017 by applying a 29% increase to the estimated total number of CD4 tests in 2013 and extrapolated the linear growth rate to 2018.

Fourteen countries provided information on the number of viral load tests conducted in 2013 and their target for 2017. The average for all reporting countries is a 99% increase from 2013 to 2017. This increase was applied to the global total in 2013 to estimate the global country target for 2017.

Ten countries (nine small countries and one large country, Kenya) provided information on the number of EID tests conducted in 2013 and their target for 2017. The weighted average is a 184% increase from 2013 to 2017. Since Kenya was the only large country to provide an EID target this increase is essentially based on Kenya's target. This increase was applied to the global total in 2013 to estimate the global country target for 2017. Targets for 2018 were estimated by extrapolation using the same rate of increase.

2.5 CHAI projections

CHAI has forecast the future demand for HIV diagnostics, including EID, CD4 and viral load testing, based on a detailed analysis of 21 high-burden countries¹ and made assumptions regarding additional testing volumes in other low- and middleincome countries. CHAI collects data annually regarding service delivery and scale up plans for HIV diagnostics from its country teams. The forecast is prepared by considering historic demand, modified by assumptions about country scale up plans, anticipated policy changes, funding, and current laboratory infrastructure capacity. Results are scaled up from the 21 high-burden countries to all low- and middle-income countries on the basis of the number of ART patients.

2.6 PFSCM projections

The PFSCM project supports the procurement and distribution of HIV diagnostic tests in a number of PEPFAR countries. They provided data on actual and planned procurements for the countries in which they work. There has been no attempt to scale up these figures to global totals. Rather they are intended to show trends in key countries with significant PEPFAR programmes. The PFSCM figures include historic data for all countries where PFSCM works and linear extrapolations to 2018 of the 2011–2013 trends.

2.7 Procurement data

For some tests procurement data are available through the GPRM. These data are a major source of information on rapid diagnostic test kits but are incomplete for CD4 and viral load tests.

2.8 PFSCM projections

For CD4, viral load and EID tests, we have included a guideline projection which shows the number of tests that would be required if all countries followed guidelines recommended by WHO (3). We have applied them to the projected number of people receiving ART, from the 'average scenario' developed for scaled up ART in 2015 (1) as follows:

- CD4 tests: two CD4 tests at initiation of ART and one test annually while on ART.
- Viral load tests: two tests in the first year of ART then one test annually while on ART.
- EID tests: one test for infants born to HIV+ mothers and a confirmatory test for those found to be HIV+.

Twenty-one high-burden countries selected by CHAI: Botswana, Brazil, Cameroon, China, Côte d'Ivoire, Ethiopia, India, Kenya, Lesotho, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, Nigeria, Rwanda, South Africa, Swaziland, Tanzania, Thailand, Uganda, Zambia and Zimbabwe. For EID, this list of countries has been expanded to include all countries in the *Global plan towards the* elimination of new HIV infections among children by 2015 and keeping their mothers alive, including Angola, Burundi, Chad, the Democratic Republic of the Congo and Ghana.

3. RESULTS

3.1 CD4 tests

Estimates of historic use and forecast demand for CD4 tests are shown in Table 1 and Fig. 1. The linear extrapolation, the 90-90-90 targets, country targets and CHAI scenarios all show significant growth in CD4 tests from 15–19 million in 2013 to 25–33 million by 2018. These trends are well above the guidelines scenario which assumes two tests per new ART patient and one test per year for continuing patients. Even though the guidelines call for viral load tests to replace CD4 tests for monitoring ART patients, country programmes still expect demand for CD4 tests to increase. If programmes do switch from relying primarily on CD4 tests to viral load tests for monitoring patients, then we would expect the forecasts based on linear extrapolation of past trend to overestimate future demand.

Table 1. Trends in demand for CD4 tests, 2011–2018 (millions)

	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
Linear extrapolation	13.9	9.2	16.5	18.9	21.0	23.0	25.0	27.0
90-90-90 targets	13.9	9.2	16.5	18.9	21.7	22.8	26.9	30.8
Country targets	13.9	9.2	16.5	18.9	23.3	27.7	32.1	36.5
CHAI (high)			19.0	22.0	23.0	26.0	28.0	30.0
CHAI (low)			19.0	22.0	23.0	25.0	26.0	27.0
PFSCM (in eight countries ²)	4.5	5.3	6.8	7.9	9.1	10.2	11.4	12.6
Guidelines		11.4	13.4	15.3	17.2	19.1	21.0	22.9

Note: 2011–2013 are estimates based on data; 2014–2018 are projections.

Table 2. Indexes of demand for CD4 tests (2013 = 1.0)

	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2013–2018*
Linear extrapolation	1.0	1.1	1.3	1.4	1.5	1.6	10%
90-90-90 targets	1.0	1.1	1.3	1.4	1.6	1.9	13%
Country targets	1.0	1.1	1.4	1.7	1.9	2.2	17%
CHAI (high)	1.0	1.2	1.2	1.4	1.5	1.6	10%
CHAI (low)	1.0	1.2	1.2	1.3	1.4	1.4	7%
PFSCM	1.0	1.2	1.3	1.5	1.7		
Guidelines	1.0	1.1	1.3	1.4	1.6	1.7	11%

* Average annual increase.

Table 2 and Fig. 2 present indexes of demand relative to 2013 in order to show the relative increase over time. Note that the figures from PFSCM represent only a subset of countries (those supported by PEPFAR through PFSCM; see footnote

to Table 1) so their figures will always be lower than other methods. Their figures are included in order to show the trend. Table 3 shows the trends in demand for CD4 tests by region for the linear extrapolation scenario.

2. Countries supported by PFSCM are Botswana, Burundi, Côte d'Ivoire, Haiti, Mozambique, Nigeria, Rwanda and Zimbabwe.





Note: PFSCM forecast is for a limited number of countries.

Figure 2. Indexes of demand for CD4 tests (2013 = 1.0)



Table 3. Trend in demand for CD4 tests by region (millions)

	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
Africa	11.6	7.4	10.0	11.2	12.5	13.8	15.1	16.4
Asia & Eastern Europe	2.3	2.6	3.4	4.0	4.5	5.1	5.6	6.2
Latin America	1.6	1.1	1.4	1.4	1.6	1.7	1.9	2.0
Total	15.5	11.1	14.8	16.6	18.6	20.6	22.6	24.6

Note: 2011–2013 are estimates based on data; 2014–2018 are projections.

3.2 Viral load tests

Table 4 and Fig. 3 show the projected trends in demand for viral load tests. The linear extrapolation and CHAI projections show similar trends with demand reaching 15–16 million by 2018. If all countries followed the guidelines the trend would be somewhat higher, reaching almost 23 million tests by 2018. The country targets and the 90-90-90 projections show much more rapid growth reaching double the level of the other projections by 2018.

Table 5 and Fig. 4 present indexes of demand relative to 2013 in order to show the relative increase over time.

Regional trends are shown in Table 6 for the linear extrapolation scenario.

	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
Linear extrapolation	3.8	5.1	6.8	9.2	11.0	12.7	14.5	16.2
90-90-90 targets				9.0	11.8	15.6	20.6	27.2
Country targets				11.4	16.0	20.6	25.2	29.9
СНАІ			3.4	4.0	5.2	7.8	11.6	14.8
PFSCM		0.1	0.2	0.3	0.8	0.8	0.9	
Guidelines				15.3	17.2	19.1	21.0	22.9

Table 4. Trends in demand for viral load tests, 2011–2018 (millions)

Note: 2011–2013 are estimates based on data; 2014–2018 are projections.

Figure 3. Trends in demand for viral load tests, 2011–2018 (millions)



Table 5. Indexes of demand for viral load tests (2013 = 1.0)

	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2013–2018*
Linear extrapolation	1.00	1.24	1.47	1.71	1.94	2.18	17%
90-90-90 targets	1.00	1.30	1.68	2.17	2.81	3.62	30%
Country targets	1.00	1.68	2.36	3.04	3.72	4.40	34%
СНАІ	1.00	1.18	1.53	2.29	3.41	4.35	34%
PFSCM	1.00	1.51	1.91	2.31	2.72		
Guidelines	1.00	1.14	1.28	1.43	1.57	1.71	11%

* Average annual increase.



Figure 4. Indexes of demand for viral load tests (2013 = 1.0)

Table 6. Trends in demand for viral load tests by region (millions)

	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
Africa	2.3	3.8	4.3	5.5	6.5	7.5	8.5	9.5
Asia & Eastern Europe	0.5	0.5	1.0	1.3	1.5	1.8	2.0	2.3
Latin America	1.0	0.9	1.3	1.4	1.5	1.7	1.9	2.1
Total	3.8	5.3	6.7	8.2	9.6	11.0	12.4	13.8

Note: 2011–2013 are estimates based on data; 2014–2018 are projections.

3.3 EID tests

Trends in demand for EID tests are shown in Table 7 and Fig. 5. In this case the various scenarios diverge significantly from each other. The linear extrapolation scenario shows no growth because it is constrained by the total need for PMTCT in each country which is expected to decline by 12% from 2013 to 2018 as a result of declining HIV prevalence among women of reproductive age in many countries in sub-Saharan Africa. The 90-90-90 scenario is somewhat higher because it assumes that all countries reach 95% of need, whereas in the linear extrapolation scenario some countries reach 100% of need

Table 7. Trends in demand for EID, 2011–2018 (thousands)

but the trend in others is for lower coverage. The CHAI and the country targets scenarios project a doubling (CHAI) or tripling (country targets) of demand by 2018, well above the guidelines trend.

Table 8 and Fig. 6 present indexes of demand relative to 2013 in order to show the relative increase over time.

Table 9 shows trends in demand for EID by region for the linear extrapolation scenario.

	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
Linear extrapolation	690	930	950	860	910	920	910	870
90-90-90 targets	690	930	950	1090	1130	1160	1170	1190
Country targets	690	930	950	1360	1770	2180	2590	3000
СНАІ			970	1050	1250	1460	1700	1890
PFSCM		20	70	190	150	410	250	300
Guidelines	1660	1630	1600	1570	1550	1520	1480	1420

Note: 2011–2013 are estimates based on data; 2014–2018 are projections.

Figure 5. Trends in demand for EID tests, 2011–2018 (millions)



Linear extrapolation
90-90-90 targets
Country targets
CHAI

• PFSCM

Guidelines

Note: PFSCM forecast is for a limited number of countries.

Table 8. Indexes of demand for EID tests (2013 = 1.0)

	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2013–2018*
Linear extrapolation	1.00	0.94	0.99	1.00	0.99	0.95	-1%
90-90-90 targets	1.00	1.15	1.19	1.22	1.23	1.25	5%
Country targets	1.00	1.45	1.91	2.36	2.81	3.26	27%
СНАІ	1.00	1.08	1.29	1.51	1.75	1.95	14%
PFSCM	1.00	1.57	2.14	2.71	3.43	4.00	32%
Guidelines	1.00	0.98	0.97	0.95	0.93	0.89	-2%

* Average annual increase.

Figure 6. Indexes of demand for EID tests (2013 = 1.0)



Table 9. Trends in demand for EID by region (thousands)

	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
Africa	623	849	879	804	851	867	859	823
Asia & Eastern Europe	49	56	48	39	38	37	35	33
Latin America	20	29	27	20	20	19	17	16
Total	693	934	954	864	909	923	912	872

Note: 2011–2013 are estimates based on data; 2014–2018 are projections.

Table 10 and Fig. 7 show the trends in the uptake of HIV testing (from GARPR) and the procurement of rapid diagnostic (HIV serology) tests (RDTs) from GPRM and their linear extrapolation. The 90-90-90 scenario for HIV testing is still being developed by UNAIDS as UNAIDS is estimating the total number of tests required to achieve the first 90 under different testing strategies.

Table 11 and Fig. 8 display indexes of demand relative to 2013 in order to compare the trends in the two sources. While divergent in absolute number of tests done, they are consistent in their trend analysis: both show slowly increasing demand for HIV testing.

Table 10. Trends in demand for HIV rapid diagnostic tests, 2011–2018 (millions)

	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
GARPR		120	120	130	140	150	150	160
Procurement data	94	59	56	72	74	76	78	81
PFSCM			34	71	68	37		

Note: 2011–2013 are estimates based on data; 2014–2018 are projections.

Figure 7. Trends in demand for HIV rapid diagnostic tests, 2011–2018 (millions)



Note: PFSCM forecast is for a limited number of countries.

	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2013–2018*
GARPR	1.00	1.08	1.17	1.25	1.25	1.33	6%
Procurement data	1.00	1.29	1.32	1.36	1.39	1.45	8%

* Average annual increase.

Figure 8. Indexes of demand for HIV rapid diagnostic tests (2013 = 1.0)



SUMMARY

- The different projections show that the demand for **CD4 tests** is expected to continue to increase substantially, reaching 23–37 million by 2018.
- Demand for **viral load tests** will likely reach between 15 and 30 million by 2018 as the different projections show.
- Demand for **EID tests** will likely grow. But, decreasing HIV prevalence among pregnant women will gradually reduce the demand for EID tests after 2018.
- The demand for **RDTs** is projected to increase from 120 million to 160 million RDTs between 2013 and 2018, which represents a slow growth with an average increase of 6-8% annually from 2013 to 2018. There were no projections calculated to estimate the number of HIV tests required to diagnose HIV infections under the fast track scenario known as the 90-90-90 scenario.
- All the scenarios, except the country target scenario, are below the 90-90-90 scenario by end of 2018 for CD4 and VL tests. This is due to under-reporting leading to low baseline data that are expected to improve in future forecasts.
- In view of resource constraints, **advocacy for the uptake of HIV testing and viral load testing** will be critical to reach the 90-90-90 target.

REFERENCES

- 1. WHO. Antiretroviral medicines in low- and middle-income countries: Forecasts of global and regional demand for 2014–2018. Geneva: World Health Organization, UNAIDS, Avenir Health; 2015
- 2. UNAIDS. Ambitious treatment targets: Writing the final chapter of the AIDS epidemic. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, 2014 (http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2014/90-90-90, accessed 1 December 2014)
- 3. WHO. Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection. Recommendations for a public health approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/guidelines/arv2013/ download/en/index.html, accessed 1 December 2014)

For more information, contact:

World Health Organization Department of HIV/AIDS 20, avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

E-mail: hiv-aids@who.int

www.who.int/hiv

ISBN 978 92 4 150651 9

